FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/29/2018 1:30 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/2/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>96029</u>-1 Court of Appeals No. 74717-7-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SARAH GOSNEY, as assignee and as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Jerry Welch; JOHN VOSE, PIZZA TIME, INC., and PIZZA TIME HOLDINGS OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents,

v.

FIREMAN'S FUND INSURANCE COMPANY and THE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, foreign insurance companies; and unknown JOHN DOES,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square
600 University, 27th Floor
Seattle, WA 98101-3143
(206) 467-1816
rsulkin@mcnaul.com
meaton@mcnaul.com

I. INTRODUCTION

Nothing is more sacred in our system of justice than the deference and finality given a jury's verdict. But the Court of Appeals' 2-1 decision completely rewrote the verdict, imposing liability and millions in damages on a claim the jury rejected, using a rationale no party advanced, and—by its own admission—disregarded the key jury instruction in so doing. This represents a radical departure from both decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and from article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution, which cherishes the right to trial by jury as "inviolate." Review is warranted under all four RAP 13.4(b) considerations.

Additionally, the law refuses to bind a non-party to a judgment except in narrowly prescribed circumstances not present here. The Court of Appeals' opinion citing collateral estoppel as an alternative ground to impose liability splits from precedent and imperils fundamental notions of due process, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(4).

Finally, the Court should review the Court of Appeals' decision setting aside the trial court's discretionary application of judicial estoppel to prevent a plaintiff from benefitting from failing to disclose his assets in bankruptcy. This decision invaded the trial court's domain, contrary to precedent and the constitutional division of authority between the superior and appellate courts, meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Fireman's Fund Insurance Company and The American Insurance Company (collectively, "FFIC").

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

FFIC seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division I, published decision filed May 31, 2018, attached in the Appendix ("App."). ¹

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the Court review the Court of Appeals' decision imposing liability and adding \$10.8 million in damages on a claim the jury rejected, where (a) the jury's contrary verdict was consistent and substantial evidence supported it and (b) the Court of Appeals admittedly disregarded the key jury instruction and re-wrote a question on the verdict form, using a theory no party advanced in order to affirm?
- 2. Should the Court review the Court of Appeals' ruling that collateral estoppel provides an alternative basis for adding \$10.8 million to the jury's verdict when, under the state and federal constitutions and settled precedent, collateral estoppel cannot apply?
- 3. Should the Court review the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's discretionary judicial estoppel ruling where the Court of Appeals substituted its judgment and factual findings for those of

¹ The Appendix also includes relevant jury instructions, the verdict form, and the relevant trial court orders. All emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.

the trial court contrary to precedent and constitutional requirements?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Thurston County Accident and Lawsuit

In 2005, a pizza franchise employee hit and killed another driver. The decedent's personal representative, Sarah Gosney, sued the driver, her employer, and the franchisor, Pizza Time, in Thurston County Superior Court. Pizza Time was owned by John Vose and insured by FFIC. RP 1977–78, 1990, 2032–34. Gosney did not sue Vose. Ex. 217; RP 2150.

FFIC appointed counsel to defend. Unbeknownst to FFIC, Vose and Pizza Time settled the case with Gosney using separate counsel. Ex. 66. They assigned to her any claims against FFIC, reserving for themselves damages for emotional distress, reputational harm, attorney's fees, or non-economic damages. *Id.* The parties agreed the total settlement amount would be determined by stipulation approved as reasonable by the trial court or by arbitration. *Id.* Until then, Vose and Pizza Time agreed to have a stipulated partial judgment for the insurance policy limits entered against them. *Id.* Based on this stipulation and without notice to FFIC, the court entered partial judgment in the amount of \$2.5 million against Vose and Pizza Time and approved it as to the decedent's minor children.

B. Proceedings Against FFIC in King County Superior Court
Gosney, as assignee of Vose and Pizza Time, then sued FFIC in

King County alleging negligence, bad faith, breach of contract, and CPA and IFCA violations. CP 1–6. The case was stayed while Pizza Time, Vose, and Gosney separately completed their arbitration. CP 141–42. The arbitrator found Pizza Time and Vose liable, awarded \$10.8 million in damages, and found that this amount represented the reasonable settlement value. Ex. 92. FFIC was not a party (Ex. 96), and the arbitrator did not consider whether FFIC acted in bad faith or damaged Vose or Pizza Time (Ex. 342 at 4). Without notifying FFIC (Ex. 345), Gosney obtained judgment on the \$10.8 million award in Thurston County (Ex. 94).

The case against FFIC was tried in King County. Plaintiffs sought the \$10.8 million as damages caused to Pizza Time and Vose for each claim (which would then go to Gosney) and additional damages for Vose and Pizza Time. RP 51 (5/7/15, 1:00 p.m.); RP 4198–4200; Ex. 66.

1. Plaintiffs Pursued Two Types of Bad Faith Claims

Plaintiffs pursued two different types of bad faith claims: a claim based on a breach of the duty to defend or settle and a claim based on breaches of various insurance rules and regulations. RP 4193–95; CP 2232–25. This was important because, while both types have the same elements—(1) breach, (2) causation, and (3) damages—the burdens differ.

For bad faith failure to defend or settle, Plaintiffs had the burden to prove breach, FFIC had the right to rebut a presumption of harm, with the

burden remaining on Plaintiffs to prove some harm. App. 77. Significantly, the jury was instructed that if Plaintiffs prevailed on this "claim"—all elements—"that [FFIC] failed to act in good faith as to [the] duty to defend or settle," the "verdict must include" the \$10.8 million as damages unless the arbitration was the product of fraud or collusion. App. 78.

For the latter type of bad faith claim, Plaintiffs had the burden to prove each element. App. 77. There are no presumed damages. *Id*.

2. The Jury Refuses to Award the \$10.8 Million

Question 1a on the verdict form asked whether Plaintiffs had proven all the elements of their "claims," including "Breach of the Duty of Good Faith." App. 65. But it did not distinguish between the duty to defend or settle bad faith claim and the other type of bad faith claim. Thus, a "Yes" could mean liability on either or both. *Id.* Question 1b, to which the jury answered "Yes," asked only whether the jury found the *element* of "breach of the duty to defend or settle," but did not ask about harm. *Id.*

There was no need to ask a separate question on whether the failure to defend or settle bad faith claim was established. Because of the court's Instruction that the jury "must" award the \$10.8 million if that claim was established, the jury's answer to Questions 4a and b would identify whether that claim was established by whether the jury awarded \$10.8 million. Question 4a asked what damages were incurred by Vose or

Pizza Time, which the jury answered as follows, awarding \$460,000 total:

Negligence:

Breach of Contract:

Breach of Duty of Good Faith:

Breach of Consumer Protection Act:

Breach of the Insurance Fair Conduct Act:

App. 67. To be clear, though Plaintiffs sought it for all claims, the jury did not find the \$10.8 million to be damages for *any* claim. In Question 4b, the jury confirmed its verdict did not "include" the \$10.8 million. *Id*.

The reason the verdict did not "include" the \$10.8 million is because the jury rejected liability on the failure to defend or settle bad faith claim. App. 77–78. Given the jury's answer that Plaintiffs proved the breach element in Question 1b, the claim necessarily failed because FFIC proved its breach caused no harm. App. 77, 65. This is consistent with the jury's finding that Vose and Pizza Time waived FFIC's duty to defend. App. 66. The \$300,000 award for "Breach of Duty of Good Faith" thus reflects a finding for Plaintiffs on their *other* bad faith claim that did not presume an award of \$10.8 million. App. 65, 67, 77–78.

Substantial evidence supported the jury's finding that FFIC's breach of the duty to defend or settle did not harm Vose or Pizza Time, including that the arbitration award was not attributable to FFIC but to

Plaintiffs' decisions. This was an important theme of FFIC's defense. RP 4202–03. The jury heard testimony that Pizza Time had a very strong defense to the Thurston County lawsuit because the driver was not a Pizza Time employee, but rather the franchisee's employee. RP 2236–37, 2239–40, 2252–55. Yet Vose and Pizza Time agreed in the settlement² to say Pizza Time employed the driver (which Vose knew was false), and Vose admitted personal liability, even though he was never sued.³ Vose and Pizza Time made the same misrepresentations to the arbitrator; provided Pizza Time's privileged defense files to Gosney without telling the arbitrator; and "failed to submit [their] own trial brief," "failed to call a single witness," and "failed to offer" any exhibits or call any experts. App. 84. This same evidence supported the jury's finding that Vose and Pizza Time waived their right to a defense from FFIC and, in fact, did not want FFIC to attend or defend the arbitration. App. 66.

3. **Post-Verdict Proceedings**

Plaintiffs did not seek clarification or move JNOV. After the court discharged the jury, they instead filed a presentation of judgment, asserting that the court was required to add \$10.8 million in damages based only

76, 4139 (no basis for personal liability for Vose).

² The jury also had substantial evidence that FFIC was not defending under a reservation of rights so Vose and Pizza Time could not settle the case without FFIC's knowledge or consent (which they did) and that Plaintiffs failed to provide FFIC with the required adequate notice. Ex. 200–06, 301; App. 72, CP 4873.

App. 84; Ex. 66 at 2, 4–6; RP 2149–51, 2154, 2815; Ex. 54; see also RP 4073–

on the jury's finding of the breach element in Question 1b. CP 5000.

The trial court rejected FFIC's arguments that the jury never awarded this amount, and even if it had, FFIC was not bound by the arbitration award. App. 80–98; *see* CP 5032. The court concluded a "conflict in the verdict form" must be "resolved" by adding millions to it to "reconcile[]" it with case law. App. 96. The court presumed the jury found for Plaintiffs on the failure to defend or settle bad faith claim even though that required the court to presume the jury ignored the Instruction that its "verdict must include" the \$10.8 million in those circumstances. App. 78.

However, the trial court granted FFIC's preserved CR 50(a) motion, ruling that Vose and Pizza Time were judicially estopped from recovering damages based on Vose's failure to disclose anything about his potential recovery from FFIC to the bankruptcy court before obtaining a discharge while the King County case against FFIC was pending. App. 98–102. The court concluded that applying judicial estoppel was necessary to avoid a "fraud on the bankruptcy court." App. 101–02.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's addition of the \$10.8 million to the verdict in a 2-1 decision. The Court stated the verdict form did not call for the jury to include the \$10.8 million, disregarding that Plaintiffs' counsel had repeatedly urged the jury to enter \$10.8 million

as an award on the verdict form (*e.g.*, RP 4187–88) and confirmed to the trial court the parties' collective understanding that the jury was tasked with awarding the \$10.8 million in Question 4a (RP 2–3 (5/7/15 PM Part I)). The Court held that "the language instructing the jury that its verdict 'must include' the underlying judgment was surplusage" because Gosney did not request an amount greater than the \$10.8 million award. App. 23–24. The Court concluded the trial court had authority to "give legal effect" to the verdict by adding the \$10.8 million. App. 27.

The Court then held that the addition of \$10.8 million to the verdict could be affirmed on the independent basis of collateral estoppel, even though the arbitration litigated only Gosney's damages, while the issue at trial was whether FFIC had failed to defend or settle in bad faith and whether it damaged Pizza Time and Vose. App. 44. Finally, the Court reversed the trial court's judicial estoppel decision holding that the court failed to make adequate findings. App. 49–51. Yet, instead of remanding, it reached its own contrary factual findings and instructed the trial court to enter judgment in favor of Vose and Pizza Time. App. 52.

Judge Leach vigorously dissented. App. 57–63. He described how the jury's verdict was consistent and showed it did not intend to award the \$10.8 million. He correctly and carefully analyzed the jury's verdict: "While no special verdict question asked the jury whether [FFIC] proved

that its breach of its duty to defend did not harm the plaintiffs, the jury's answers to the special verdict questions answer this question and show that the jury found this breach caused no harm to plaintiffs." App. 57.

Because this breach caused no harm, "plaintiffs had not proved a breach of good faith *claim* based on a breach of the duty to defend and/or settle."

App. 59. As Judge Leach noted, this is consistent with the jury's finding that Vose and PT waived and did not want FFIC to defend. App. 59, 66.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. The Court of Appeals Disregarded the Jury Verdict Contrary to Published Case Law and the Washington Constitution

It is unheard of for a trial court to add millions to a jury verdict contrary to its own instructions and the jury's actual decision. This Court should grant review under all RAP 13.4(b) factors because, in affirming that result, the Court of Appeals undermined the constitutional right to a jury, contrary to this Court's and the Court of Appeals' own case law. Allowing courts to void jury verdicts undermines the constitutional jury trial right that the framers preserved as "inviolate." Wash. Const. art. I, § 21.

This Court has long held that courts *must* presume the jury understood and followed all instructions. *Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 474, 285 P.3d 873 (2012). Courts also must "view the verdict in light of the instructions and the record." *Meenach v. Triple E Meats, Inc.*, 39 Wn. App. 635, 639, 694 P.2d 1125 (1985). A court may not "substitute its

conclusions for that of the jury." *Cox v. Charles Wright Acad., Inc.*, 70 Wn.2d 173, 176, 422 P.2d 515 (1967). A court has a duty to enter judgment on the jury's verdict. *Estate of Dormaier ex rel. Dormaier v. Columbia Basin Anesthesia*, 177 Wn. App. 828, 866, 313 P.3d 431 (2013); *Marvik v. Winkelman*, 126 Wn. App. 655, 660, 109 P.3d 47 (2005). A party who fails to seek clarification from the jury waives a later claim that the jury's intent was different than what it wrote on the verdict. *Minger v. Reinhard Distrib. Co.*, 87 Wn. App. 941, 946, 943 P.2d 400 (1997).

Both the trial court's and the Court of Appeals' rulings upend this case law. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2). As the jury under *Diaz* is presumed to have understood and followed the instructions—including that *if* it found for Plaintiffs on their claim for bad faith failure to defend or settle, *then* its "verdict must include" the \$10.8 million, App. 78—the court's task was to determine if there was any way to read the verdict consistent with the conclusion that the jury did *not* find for Plaintiffs on that claim. As Judge Leach described, all of the jury's answers are consistent with that conclusion. App. 57–63; *Sheldon v. Imhoff*, 198 Wash. 66, 68–69, 87 P.2d 103 (1939) (award of no damages for claim construed as defense verdict on that claim). Because the jury had substantial evidence to conclude that FFIC rebutted the presumption of harm—which was its right under the Instructions and was a key defense theme—the court had no authority to

change the jury's verdict. RP 4203; App. 77.

The Court of Appeals conceded its holding could not be squared with the Instructions. It *openly dismissed the key portion of Instruction*54—an entire paragraph Plaintiffs drafted and repeatedly cited—dismissing as "surplusage" the language telling the jury that it "must include" the \$10.8 million as damages if it found for Plaintiffs on the claim for failure to defend or settle. App. 23. Case law cited above prohibits courts from disregarding instructions in the guise of giving "legal effect" to the verdict. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2); *Meenach*, 39 Wn. App. at 639.

As Judge Leach explained (App. 61–63), the decision also disregarded the plain language of Question 1b—asking if the jury found the *breach element*—and re-wrote it to ask about "all elements" of the claim:

Actual Language of Question 1b: "If you answered 'yes' to Question 1a as to Breach of Duty of Good Faith, did you find a breach of the duty to defend or settle?" App. 65.

Court of Appeals: Question 1b "asked the jury to answer whether Plaintiffs had proved 'all elements' of the tort of bad faith failure to defend or settle." App. 25.

Washington law cited above prohibits courts from rewriting verdict forms in the guise of giving legal effect to the verdict. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2).

In straining to affirm, the decision relies on the faulty notion that the jury was not asked to award the \$10.8 million at all. App. 23–24. This conclusion defies Instructions 53 and 54 (*supra* at 4–5), and Instruction

37, which told the jury that recoverable damages included "the amount of the judgment entered against the insured," specifically referencing the \$10.8 million (App. 71). Likewise, the verdict form did not exclude the \$10.8 million: Question 4a provided the jury five opportunities to award it. App. 67. Plaintiffs urged the jury to award that amount in Question 4a:

- Gosney's counsel told the jury in closing to fill in the \$10.8 million on Question 4a of the verdict form and that the only task of the court would be to calculate interest on it: "the judgment amount is \$10.8 million. *That at a minimum must be filled in.*" RP 4187–88.
- He told the jury that "recoverable damages" included "the amount of the judgment entered against the insured [in] the underlying action," i.e., the \$10.8 million. RP 49 (5/7/15 PM Part I).
- Vose's counsel urged the jury to "cover the judgment [i.e. \$10.8 million]" on the verdict form. RP 4199 (citing App. 78).

Plaintiffs' counsel confirmed before closing that all understood the jury would decide whether to award the \$10.8 million in Question 4: "The jury is going to indicate whether their award of damage[s] includes the judgment amount. If it does, the Court will then calculate interest following the verdict and before entry of judgment." RP 2–3 (5/7/15 PM Part I).

Nonetheless, Plaintiffs presented a judgment with the \$10.8 million added. CP 5000, 5007–09. This contradicted their own statements to the court and the jury, the Instructions, and their duty to seek clarification

13

⁴ The opinion rests on a false premise that the jury found all elements of the claim for bad faith failure to defend or settle and proceeds to the faulty conclusion that the decision to award the \$10.8 million was not within the jury's province. App. 21–27. Both are incorrect. As Plaintiffs' concessions show, the only thing the jury was not tasked to do is to reassess the amount—it could only award \$10.8 million or not—and the only task reserved to the trial court was adding interest.

from the jury before discharge if they believed the jury had an unstated intent to include the \$10.8 million. *Minger*, 87 Wn. App. 946; RAP 13.4(b)(2). Yet the Court of Appeals disregarded this too in affirming.⁵

The decision also conflicts with precedent on remedy. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2). Washington case law mandates that if a jury's answers conflict and cannot be reconciled as written with the instructions, a court lacks the power to resolve the conflict and the only relief available is further deliberations or a new trial. *Alvarez v. Keyes*, 76 Wn. App. 741, 743, 887 P.2d 496 (1995). This law has stood for nearly a century: after discharge, "the authority of the court to amend or correct [a] verdict is limited strictly to matters of form or clerical error." *Beglinger v. Shield*, 164 Wash. 147, 153, 2 P.2d 681 (1931). In adding \$10.8 million to the verdict, the trial court believed it was "resolv[ing]" a "conflict in the verdict form." CP 5861. The Court of Appeals ignored this obvious error in conflict with nearly a century of case law. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2). Indeed, the

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