FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/27/2018 2:00 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96029-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 74717-7-1)

SARAH GOSNEY, as assignee and as the Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF JERRY L. WELCH; JOHN VOSE, PIZZA TIME INC. AND PIZZA TIME HOLDINGS OF WASHINGTON, a Washington corporation,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants,

VS.

FIREMAN'S FUND INSURANCE COMPANY and THE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, foreign insurance companies; and unknown JOHN DOES,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents.

RESPONDENTS JOHN VOSE, PIZZA TIME, INC., AND PIZZA TIME HOLDINGS OF WASHINGTON'S CORRECTED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Reversed The Trial Court's Judicial Estoppel Ruling On Four Separate And Independent Grounds.

Fireman's Fund wrongly claims, in the last few pages of its petition, that "[t]he Court of Appeals' treatment of judicial estoppel warrants review under all four RAP 13.4(b) factors." Pet. 18. As set forth below, the Court of Appeals' analysis is entirely consistent with settled precedent and therefore does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Nor did the Court of Appeals usurp the jury's or trial court's role as fact-finder as Fireman's Fund also claims. Pet. 20. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that Fireman's Fund offered *no evidence* to support *several* required elements of judicial estoppel. Thus, review of this unpublished decision is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4) either.

The Court of Appeals' analysis is firmly grounded in established precedent. This Court explained in *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d

535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007), that "three core factors guide a trial court's determination of whether to apply the judicial estoppel doctrine." Those factors are:

(1) whether a party's later position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position; (2) whether judicial acceptance of an inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create the perception that either the first or the second court was misled; and (3) whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped.

Id. at 538-39 (internal quotation marks omitted). But as the Court further explained, "[t]hese factors are not an exhaustive formula and additional considerations may guide a court's decision." *Id.* at 539 (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, for example, "[a]pplication of the doctrine may be inappropriate when a party's prior position was based on inadvertence or mistake." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted).

The Court of Appeals has addressed judicial estoppel in several cases that are consistent with the decision here. In *Arp v. Riley*, 192 Wn. App. 85, 99, 366 P.3d 946 (2015), the court recognized that "Arp's violation of a disclosure obligation does not, as the trial court appears to have decided, mean that judicial estoppel bars Arp's claim as a matter of law." To the contrary, there must be evidence that a creditor "would have considered requesting a plan amendment if [the debtor] had disclosed his claim in an

amended schedule" and that "the bankruptcy court would have changed the relief it granted." *Id.* at 100. In *Mercer Island School District v. Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction*, 186 Wn. App. 939, 941 n.25, 347 P.3d 924 (2015), the court similarly rejected a judicial estoppel defense because "[i]n all likelihood, the Parents' prior position was a byproduct of inadvertence or mistake." And in *Haslett v. Planck*, 140 Wn. App. 660, 666-68, 166 P.3d 866 (2007), the court recognized that the Hasletts had taken inconsistent positions "by failing to list their now-asserted claim," but nevertheless reversed the trial court's judicial estoppel ruling based on the "contingent, unliquidated nature of the claim."

This Court recognized these same legal principles in *Miller v. Campbell*, 137 Wn. App. 762, 155 P.3d 154 (2007), *aff'd* 164 Wn.2d 529, 192 P.3d 352 (2008) (hereinafter "*Miller*"). The Court of Appeals in *Miller* declined to apply judicial estoppel based, in part, on the absence of knowledge of the undisclosed claims and noted that cases applying judicial estoppel typically involve "bad faith, deliberate assertion of inconsistent positions in order to gain advantage, or reckless disregard for the truth." 137 Wn. App. at 772 (footnotes and internal quotation marks omitted). This Court, too, recognized that "judicial estoppel protects the integrity of the judicial process, not the interest of a defendant attempting to avoid liability." 164 Wn.2d at 544. Consistent with that purpose, this Court

allowed the bankruptcy trustee to pursue claims that the debtor had not disclosed when he previously filed for chapter 7 bankruptcy. *Id*.

Based on these legal principles, the Court of Appeals correctly reversed the trial court's judicial estoppel ruling for *four* reasons. First, the Court of Appeals correctly held that there is no legal or factual basis for finding that Pizza Time, which did not declare bankruptcy and took no position in the previous bankruptcy proceeding, is judicially estopped from recovering on the jury's verdict. App. 49. In *Arkison*, this Court recognized that judicial estoppel can "create a windfall for the party seeking to evoke judicial estoppel" and therefore refused to apply the doctrine to "separate identities." 160 Wn.2d at 540 (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court of Appeals' holding that judicial estoppel cannot apply to Pizza Time adheres to this precedent and presents no grounds for review.

Second, the Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that Fireman's Fund had "not proved that, at the time of the bankruptcy filing, Vose had any such asset, claim, or cause of action to disclose." App. 50. In *Miller*, this Court held that "judicial estoppel can be used to prevent a party from pursuing a *claim* that he or she had an obligation to disclose in bankruptcy and failed to do so." 164 Wn.2d at 540. Here, as the Court of Appeals correctly ruled (App. 50), the Covenant Settlement Agreement with Gosney expressly provided that Vose and Pizza Time "assign to

Plaintiffs Welch *all rights, privileges, claims, causes or chose of action* that they may have against ... Fireman's Fund" (Ex. 66 at 4). Because Vose and Pizza Time assigned all *claims* against Fireman's Fund, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Vose had no claim to disclose in bankruptcy and the trial court had no basis to apply judicial estoppel.

Third, the Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that Fireman's Fund had "presented no evidence whatsoever" regarding the "nature and value of Vose's interest." App. 50. The disclosure obligation in bankruptcy applies "as of the commencement of the case." 11 U.S.C. § 541(a)(1). Here, as the Court of Appeals concluded, "the record indicates that all of Vose's claimed personal damages originated *postbankruptcy*, when Fireman's refused to settle and refused to engage in arbitration." App. 51 (emphasis added). Accordingly, even if Vose had a "claim" against Fireman's Fund when he filed for bankruptcy protection (which he did not), there was no disclosure obligation because the harm, and any recovery by Vose for those harms, was unresolved or uncertain at best. As *Haslett* confirms (*see supra* at 11), judicial estoppel does not apply in such circumstances.

<u>Fourth</u>, the Court of Appeals also ruled that judicial estoppel does not apply here because "Fireman's presented no evidence that disclosure would have changed the outcome of the bankruptcy." App. 51. In *Arp*, the case cited by the Court of Appeals, the court held that for judicial estoppel

to apply, there must be evidence that a creditor would have considered requesting a plan amendment if the debtor had disclosed the claim at issue. 192 Wn. App. at 100. Yet as the Court of Appeals correctly ruled, there is "no evidence" that a creditor would have requested a plan amendment if Vose had disclosed his potential recovery when he filed for bankruptcy protection in 2010.

Nor is there any evidence that disclosure of Vose's potential recovery for future harms would have altered the course of the bankruptcy proceedings. Vose's debts were discharged in bankruptcy on July 21, 2010. CP 5566. As of that date, Gosney was suing Fireman's Fund, which had yet to file cross-claims against Vose and Pizza Time or inflict the additional harm described above (*supra* at 5-7). It is not surprising, therefore, that Fireman's Fund did not present any evidence that the bankruptcy proceedings would have progressed differently if Vose had disclosed this potential for recovery in his bankruptcy filing, especially in light of the liability facing him and Pizza Time if Fireman's Fund refused to pay the limits and ensure the covenant protection. In this respect as well, the Court of Appeals' analysis is both legally and factually sound.

B. Fireman's Fund Has Not Established – Nor Can It Establish – That The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With This Court's Precedent Or Otherwise Merits Review.

While Fireman's Fund disputes the Court of Appeals' analysis, its arguments easily fail and do not, in any event, establish that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b). Preliminarily, because the Court of Appeals' judicial estoppel decision is based on four *separate and independent* reasons, Fireman's Fund will not be entitled to vacatur of the jury verdict in favor of Vose and Pizza Time unless it establishes that the ruling conflicts with this Court's precedent and otherwise merits review as to *all four grounds* for decision. Yet at least as to the "first" ruling discussed above (regarding Pizza Time), Fireman's Fund does not even attempt to challenge the Court of Appeals' analysis. Instead, it presents a hodgepodge of complaints regarding the other grounds for decision – all of which lack merit.

Fireman's Fund first asserts that the Court of Appeals' analysis is "contrary to the broad disclosure obligations set forth in case law" and "the bankruptcy code." Pet. 18, 20. In *Bartley-Williams v. Kendall*, 134 Wn. App. 95, 138 P.3d 1103 (2006), cited by Fireman's Fund, the court recognized that "a bankruptcy petitioner must disclose pre-petition *claims*, including contingent and unliquidated claims." *Id.* at 98 (emphasis added). The federal bankruptcy code similarly requires disclosure of contingent and

unliquidated "claims." Pet. 20 (emphasis added). In *Miller*, which Fireman's Fund also cites, the court held that a debtor must disclose "potential *claims*." 164 Wn.2d at 540 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals' analysis does not conflict with these authorities because Vose did not have any claims – contingent, unliquidated, or potential – having assigned all such claims to Gosney. Fireman's Fund, for its part, has not cited a single case applying judicial estoppel where, as here, a debtor does not disclose a claim that had been assigned to another party.

Next, Fireman's Fund complains that the Court of Appeals faulted the trial court for failing to make the requisite findings even though, according to Fireman's Fund, case law "has never required detailed factual findings." Pet. 18. That argument misses the mark. As the Court of Appeals noted, the trial court made "no findings" regarding Pizza Time and "no findings" regarding the alleged nature and value of Vose's interest. App. 49-50. Although cited by Fireman's Fund, *Le Maine v. Seals*, 47 Wn.2d 259, 263, 287 P.2d 305 (1955), confirms that while a trial court "is not obliged to make findings in regard to every item of evidence in a case," the court must "make ultimate findings of fact concerning all of the material issues." As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the trial court here failed to make such findings.

Nor is there any reason to remand the issue for further proceedings, as Fireman's Fund contends. Pet. 19-20. The Court of Appeals ruled that judicial estoppel does not apply here because Fireman's Fund, which raised the defense at trial, presented "no evidence" regarding the nature and alleged value of Vose's interest, "no such proof" that Vose "possessed some cognizable and valuable interest," and "no evidence" that disclosure would have changed the outcome of the bankruptcy. App. 50-51. Having failed to offer evidence regarding critical elements of its judicial estoppel defense during the five-week trial, Fireman's Fund has no basis to argue that the Court of Appeals should have remanded the issue for further proceedings. See State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287, 372, 290 P.3d 43 (2012) ("we see no evidence that racial discrimination pervades the imposition of capital punishment in Washington and, therefore, see no reason to remand this matter to the superior court for an evidentiary hearing that the petitioner did not seek"). As in *Davis*, there is no reason to remand this matter for an additional hearing that Fireman's Fund never requested.

The Court of Appeals also did not "misread" *Arp*. Fireman's Fund claims that nothing in *Arp* requires a proponent of judicial estoppel to show that disclosure would have changed the bankruptcy proceedings. Pet. 18-19. As discussed and quoted above (*supra* at 10-11), that is precisely what *Arp* holds. This Court has also recognized that the "core factors" for

application of judicial estoppel include "judicial acceptance" and "unfair advantage." *Arkison*, 160 Wn.2d at 538-39 (quoted on pages 9-10 above). These core factors necessarily require proof that disclosure would have changed the outcome of the bankruptcy. Other courts, in addition to *Arkison* and *Arp*, have similarly so held.² Here, as the Court of Appeals correctly stated, Fireman's Fund did not present any such evidence, which is fatal to its judicial estoppel defense. App. 51.

Fireman's Fund also asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision "opens up an untenable or unintended loophole, allowing debtors to assign away claims, reserve a right to damages for themselves, refuse to disclose those claims to the bankruptcy court, and leave Washington Courts without power to redress it." Pet. 20. There is no evidence that Vose assigned his claims against Fireman's Fund to somehow hide those claims from his creditors. Nor would such an argument make sense, as Vose assigned those claims to Gosney in 2008 (Ex. 66) and specifically testified that the purpose of the assignment was to "resolve the case" (RP 2082). Vose did not file for bankruptcy protection until 2010 – two years after he thought the

² See Haslett, 140 Wn. App. at 667-68 (reversing trial court's judicial estoppel ruling based on defendant's failure to establish "that the Hasletts' nondisclosure had any such effect, given the contingent, unliquidated nature of the claim"); *Moreno v. Autozone, Inc.*, C05-04432 MJJ, 2007 WL 1063433, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 9, 2007) ("While it is undisputed that Moreno did not disclose the present claims, the value of those claims is uncertain, and the effect, if any, that disclosure would have had on the course of the bankruptcy proceedings is purely speculative.").

assigned claims had been resolved. Ex. 384. Moreover, even if Vose had a claim against Fireman's Fund, that claim arose out of the emotional distress that Vose experienced as a result of being exposed to a non-covered claim in excess of \$10 million. That exposure did not occur until late 2012 – two years *after* Vose filed for bankruptcy protection. On this record, any "loophole" concerns are entirely unfounded.

For similar reasons, Fireman's Fund has it backwards when it contends that Vose "admitted" at trial that he had a potential right of recovery and "chose not to disclose it." Pet. 20. The unrebutted evidence is that Vose did not disclose this case in the bankruptcy proceeding because he "thought it was done." RP 2082. And despite a lengthy crossexamination by defense counsel that focused largely on Vose's bankruptcy filings, the jury expressly found that Fireman's Fund had *not* proven its fraud, collusion, and estoppel defenses. CP 4989. Fireman's Fund, in contrast, breached its insurance contract, committed bad faith, and acted unfairly, deceptively, and contrary to the public interest. CP 4988-89. Significantly, Fireman's Fund has not challenged the jury's breach of contract, IFCA, and CPA findings on appeal, nor has it challenged the amount of the jury's damages awards in favor of Vose and Pizza Time. This Court has recognized that judicial estoppel is an "equitable doctrine" and that the doctrine does not protect "the interest of a defendant attempting to

avoid liability." *Arkison*, 160 Wn.2d at 538; *Miller*, 164 Wn.2d at 544. Applying these equitable principles here, Fireman's Fund should not benefit at the expense of the *same parties* that were harmed by its misconduct. For this reason too, the Court should deny review.³

V. CONCLUSION AND FEE REQUEST

For the above reasons, the Court should deny review and award Vose and Pizza Time their attorney fees incurred in answering the Petition for Review under *Olympic Steamship* and RAP 18.1(j).